Case 2021AP000311

FILED 07-12-2021 **CLERK OF WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS**

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

DISTRICT I

Case No. 2021AP000311-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

DONTE QUINTELL MCBRIDE,

Defendant-Appellant.

On Appeal from a Judgment of Conviction Entered in the Milwaukee County Circuit Court, the Honorable J.D. Watts, Presiding

BRIEF OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

JILL M. SKWOR Assistant State Public Defender State Bar No. 1116839

Office of the State Public Defender 735 N. Water Street - Suite 912 Milwaukee, WI 53202-4116 (414) 227-4805 skworj@opd.wi.gov

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

Filed 07-12-2021

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. Whether police had reasonable suspicion to seize Mr. McBride, a passenger in a vehicle parked in an alley late at night in a "high-crime area," upon his movement when the officer shined a spotlight into the vehicle?

The circuit court concluded the seizure was lawful.

2. If the initial seizure was lawful, may an officer handcuff and remove a passenger from a parked car as part of a *Terry* stop?

The circuit court answered yes.

3. Whether police lawfully searched Mr. McBride and seized a pill bottle from his jacket pocket after removing him from the vehicle?

The circuit court answered yes.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND **PUBLICATION**

Both oral argument and publication requested as this court has not previously addressed whether a passenger may automatically be removed from a vehicle in a non-traffic stop or whether an unlabeled pill bottle may serve as a basis for arrest. Wis. Stat. § 809.23(1)(a)1 and 2. This court may find it helpful in addressing the issues presented in this case. Wis. Stat. § 809.22(1).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State filed a criminal complaint against Donte Q. McBride, alleging possession with intent to deliver controlled substances (heroin) (>3-10 grams), in violation of Wis. Stat. §§ 961.41(1m)(d)(2) and 939.50(3)(e) and possession of narcotic drugs, in violation of Wis. Stat. §§ 961.41(3g)(am) and 939.50(e)(i). (1:1). The allegations were based upon a police seizure and search of Mr. McBride, a passenger in a vehicle police observed stopped in an alley on October 27, 2018. (1:2).

An amended information later charged Mr. McBride with one count of possession with intent to deliver a controlled substance (heroin) (>3-10 grams), second and subsequent offense, in violation of Wis. Stat. §§ 961.41(1m)(d)(2), 939.50(3)(e) and 961.48(1)(b) (Count 1) and two counts of possession with intent to deliver narcotics, second and subsequent offense, in violation of Wis. Stat. §§ 961.41(1m)(a), 939.50(3)(e) and 961.48(1)(b) (Counts 2 (oxycodone) and 3 (fentanyl)). (6:1-2).

Counsel for Mr. McBride filed a motion to suppress the evidence which alleged the police seizure and search violated the Fourth Amendment. (7). A hearing on the suppression motion was held on September 27, 2019. (40; 46). Milwaukee Police Officer Jose Rivera, who seized, searched and arrested Mr.

McBride, was the State's sole witness. (40). Video recorded by law enforcement body cameras was introduced as Exhibit 1 (40:14-15; 12). Both parties then offered argument before the court issued its oral ruling. (40:34-50, 46:2-22).

The State argued the police possessed reasonable suspicion to seize and search Mr. McBride, based upon his presence in a vehicle parked in an alley in a high-crime area and his movement upon a police spotlight being directed inside the vehicle. (40:35-36; 46:3-6). Mr. McBride argued Officer Rivera lacked reasonable suspicion to seize and search him pursuant to *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1 (1968). (40:38-40, 46:6-10).

In an oral ruling, the circuit court, the Honorable J.D. Watts, denied the motion to suppress, finding the police had reasonable suspicion to seize and search Mr. McBride pursuant to *Terry*, *Pennsylvania v. Mimms*, 434 U.S. 106 (1977) and Wis. Stat. § 968.25. (40:40-50, 46:11-23).

Following the court's denial of his suppression motion, Mr. McBride pleaded guilty to all three counts; in exchange, the State agreed to dismiss and read-in

¹ All references to the body camera video received as evidence at the suppression hearing will be to the file titled "TRAFFIC_STOP 2" which is the only file on the DVD that was submitted by the court. (40:14-15, 43, 12). Counsel will indicate where specific events happen on the video by citing to the time counter at the bottom of the screen which begins at 0:00:00 and elapsed time in the video in the format reports hours:minutes:seconds.

the second and subsequent offense enhancers on all counts. (46:25).

On September 30, 2019, the court sentenced Mr. McBride to a term totaling 6 years imprisonment (3 years confinement and 3 years extended supervision). (42:30; 17).

Mr. McBride timely filed a notice of intent to pursue postconviction relief. (19:1). He appeals the circuit court's denial of his suppression motion pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 971.31(10).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

At the suppression hearing, Officer Rivera testified that while on routine patrol on October 27, 2018, at approximately 11:15pm, he and his partner, Officer Eric Kradecki, drove through an alley near 416 East Locust Street in Milwaukee. (40:5-6). The officers approached a Nissan Pathfinder that had no headlights on, parked in the alley. (40:6; 43 at 0:00:20).

Officer Rivera testified the way the Nissan was parked could have obstructed traffic, resulting in being ticketed and towed. (40:7, 40:20). On cross-examination, however, Officer Rivera acknowledged he was able to maneuver around the Nissan and did not take measurements to indicate that it in fact obstructed traffic. (40:20).

Immediately upon seeing the Nissan, Officer Rivera shone the police spotlight on it and observed two occupants inside - the driver and a front seat passenger. (40:6-7; 43 at 0:00:22). Officer Rivera acknowledged the spotlight was bright and that it was possible one may be blinded by it. (40:30)

Officer Rivera testified that upon shining the spotlight into the Nissan, he saw the passenger "bend down towards his waist area and begin to reach around in the vehicle." (40:7-8). Officer Rivera's body camera footage, which was played at the suppression hearing, reflected it was difficult to see whether Mr. McBride made a furtive movement. (43 at 0:00:22 - 0:00:29; 40:41).

Officer Rivera acknowledged that police had no reports of a "ShotSpotter" call or other suspicious activity in the area, nor were they provided any information regarding Mr. McBride or the vehicle he was in specifically. (40:19-20). According to Officer Rivera, Mr. McBride's movement prompted him to believe that "something illegal was going on." (40:20).

The officers got out of their squad car and immediately ordered the Nissan's occupants to put their hands up. (40:9; 43 at 0:00:28-0:00:34). Officer Kradecki made contact with the driver, while Officer Rivera approached the passenger, Mr. McBride. (43 at 0:00:33-0:00:41; 40:10). Officer Rivera shouted and repeated "hands up!" as he approached Mr. McBride. (43 at 0:00:28-0:00:34; 40:10). While Officer Kradecki spoke with the driver, Officer Rivera opened the passenger side door. (43 at 0:00:37-0:00:40; 40:11). About 25 seconds passed between the time the officers

observed the parked vehicle and when they ordered the occupants to put their hands up. (43 at 0:00:15-0:00:40; 40:23).

Mr. McBride complied with the command to keep his hands up and Officer Rivera handcuffed him while asking what he was reaching for and what he was doing there. (43 at 0:00:28-0:00:55; 40:11, 22-24). Mr. McBride denied reaching for anything and responded that "this is my house right here." (43 at 0:00:53-0:00:58; 40:31). Indeed, the Nissan was parked behind the house where Mr. McBride lived. (40:30).

After handcuffing Mr. McBride, Officer Rivera pulled him out of the Nissan. (43 at 0:00:57-0:01:02; 40:11). As he did so, Officer Rivera noticed an orange pill bottle without a label on the floor of the front passenger area, in plain view. (40:11-12, 25). Officer Rivera testified that, based on his training and experience, the presence of the unlabeled pill bottle indicated Mr. McBride was unlawfully possessing a controlled substance. (40:12).

Upon removing Mr. McBride from the Nissan, Officer Rivera searched him and found another unlabeled pill bottle in his right front jacket packet. (40:12; 46:21; 43 at 0:00:1:10). He subsequently found a baggie containing suspected heroin, later confirmed to contain a combination of heroin and fentanyl. (1:2).

On cross-examination, Officer Rivera testified he did not believe the pill bottle was a weapon. (40:25).

In denying the suppression motion, the circuit court noted Officer Rivera had been a police officer for almost 12 years and patrolled this particular area. (40:41). The court found Officer Rivera credible and gave weight to his testimony that he observed Mr. McBride make a furtive movement, despite the lack of corroboration from the body camera recording. (40:42). According to the circuit court, a furtive movement may indicate "consciousness of guilt and action to secrete evidence." (40:49).

Accepting the officer's testimony knowledge of the area as "high-crime," the court acknowledged this factor alone would be insufficient to provide reasonable suspicion. (40:46).

However, the court found that the combination of Mr. McBride's furtive movement and his presence in a "high-crime area" created reasonable suspicion justifying the seizure. Additionally, the court found suspicious the presence of two occupants sitting in an parked vehicle without improperly headlights illuminated in an alley. (40:46-47).

Finally, the court found the presence of pill bottles on the floorboard of the car unusual and related to Officer Rivera's inference of suspicious activity. (40:49).

Considering the above factors - the presence of a vehicle allegedly improperly parked in an alley, occupied by two individuals and without headlights on, in a high-crime area, where the passenger made a furtive movement upon a police spotlight being shone

into the vehicle and the observation of a pill bottle on the floorboard - the court found Officer Rivera possessed reasonable suspicion under *Terry* to justify Mr. McBride's seizure and the subsequent frisk of his person, for officer safety. (40:46, 49-50). The circuit court further found Officer Rivera lawfully seized the pill bottle from Mr. McBride's jacket. (46:21).

ARGUMENT

- I. Police did not have reasonable suspicion to seize Mr. McBride based upon his movement in response to police shining a spotlight into vehicle in which he was a passenger, parked in an alleyway behind his house, in a "high-crime area."
 - A. General legal principles and standard of review.

The Fourth Amendment to the U.S. Constitution and Article 1, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protects the rights of citizens to be free from unreasonable searches and seizures. The U.S. Supreme Court and the Wisconsin Supreme Court recognize the protection from warrantless searches and seizures is not absolute. See e.g. State v. Brown, 2020 WI 63, ¶ 10, 392 Wis. 2d 454, 945 N.W.2d 584. One exception is for "short investigative stops if law enforcement has 'a particularized and objective basis' to suspect a person of criminal activity." Id. (citing Navarette v. California, 572 U.S. 393 (2014); see also Wis. Stat. § 968.24 (codifying investigative stops).

Federal and state caselaw clearly grant law enforcement officers leave to "stop and frisk" individuals suspected of criminal activity. *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1 (1968); *State v. Young*, 2006 WI 98, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729. However, a lawful, investigative seizure must be supported by reasonable suspicion. *Id.* at 20-22.

To determine whether police lawfully initiated an investigatory stop, this court must "examine the facts leading up to the stop" to decide whether those facts, "viewed from the standpoint of an objectively reasonable police officer, amount to reasonable suspicion." *Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 58 (citing *Maryland v. Pringle*, 540 U.S. 366, 371 (2003)). As our Supreme Court noted in *Young*:

Reasonable suspicion requires that a police officer possess specific and articulable facts that warrant a reasonable belief that criminal activity is afoot. A mere hunch that a person has been, is, or will be involved in criminal activity is insufficient.

Id. at ¶ 21 (citing Terry, 392 U.S. at 27) (internal citation omitted).

The State bears the burden of proving the constitutionality of the seizure. *State v. Post*, 2007 WI 60, ¶ 12, 301 Wis. 2d 1, 733 N.W.2d 634.

The appropriate remedy for an unconstitutional seizure is to suppress the evidence it produced. *State v. Washington*, 2005 WI App 123, ¶ 10, 284 Wis. 2d

456, 700 N.W.2d 305; Wong Sun v. United States, 371 U.S. 471, 484-85, 487-88 (1963).

Whether one's constitutionally-protected right against unreasonable searches and seizures was violated is a mixed question of law and fact, to which this court must apply a two-step standard of review. *Brown*, 2020 WI 63, at ¶8. The circuit court's findings of fact will be accepted unless clearly erroneous, but the application of those facts to constitutional principles shall be reviewed independently. *Id*.

When a defendant enters a guilty plea following the circuit court's denial of his suppression motion and a reviewing court determines that the circuit court erred, the defendant should be allowed to withdraw his guilty plea, unless the State can prove that there was no reasonable probability that the court's error contributed to the plea. $State\ v.\ Semrau$, 2000 WI App 54 ¶ 26, Wis. 2d 508, 608 N.W.2d 376.

Here, had the circuit court granted McBride's suppression motion, the evidence against Mr. McBride would have excluded and he would not have pleaded guilty.

B. The seizure of a vehicle parked in an alley, in a "high-crime area," in which a passenger makes a movement in response to police shining a spotlight, was unsupported by reasonable suspicion to believe a crime had been committed.

The State conceded and the circuit court agreed this case is controlled by *United States v. Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. 544 (1980). (40:34, 38). That is, "a seizure occurs when, in view of all the circumstances surrounding the incident, a reasonable person would have believed he was not free to leave." *Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 28 (citing *Mendenhall*, 446 U.S. at 554). Further, the State conceded, and the circuit court agreed Mr. McBride was seized when Officer Rivera commanded him to "show his hands." (40:34-35).

The circuit court found four factors which established "reasonable suspicion under the totality of the circumstances" to justify the police seizure of Mr. McBride. Those factors were: (1) it was a high-crime area; (2) Mr. McBride made a "furtive movement"; (3) the fact that the car was parked in an alleyway in such a manner that it could have obstructed traffic; and (4) the officer's inferences, based on his training and experience, regarding the pill bottle on the floorboard or between the door and passenger seat.

None of these factors, either individually or in combination, establish reasonable suspicion under the totality of the circumstances. First, as the circuit court acknowledged, the mere presence of Mr. McBride in an area characterized by Officer Rivera as a "high-crime area" fails to rise to the level of reasonable suspicion. *State v. Gordon*, 2014 WI App 44, ¶ 15, 353 Wis. 2d 468, 846 N.W.2d 48; *Illinois v. Wardlow*, 528 U.S. 119, 124 (2000).

In *Gordon*, this court held the police seizure of an individual walking at night in an area denoted as "high-crime" who patted the outside of his pocket in a "security adjustment" upon seeing police was not justified by reasonable suspicion. Id. at ¶14, 9. This court emphasized those who live in "high-crime areas" are entitled to the same constitutional protections as everyone else. Id. at ¶15.

Second, while the circuit court found the "furtive movement" described by Officer Rivera to be a factor, such a movement not dissimilar to the "security adjustment" in *Gordon*. Similar to *Gordon*, where the factors considered for reasonable suspicion included (1) presence in a "high-crime area", (2) recognition of police presence and (3) the movement (in *Gordon*, the patting the outside of his pants pocket, and here, the bending towards his waist and reaching around), there needed to be something "more." *Id.* at ¶14.

Third, the circuit court credited Officer Rivera's testimony that the Mr. McBride's was a passenger in an improperly parked car in an alley. The circuit court found this behavior unusual. But, such behavior, even in a "high-crime area" does not create reasonable suspicion of criminal activity.

This court has previously found sitting in an idling car in a parking lot is not enough to establish reasonable suspicion. State v. Evans, 2021 WI App 14, ¶ 40 (Wi. App., Jan. 28, 2021, unpublished opinion)². (App. 8). In *Evans*, police noticed two individuals in a vehicle leave a hotel parking lot, drive to an apartment complex, park for a few minutes, return to the hotel parking lot and remain sitting in the idling vehicle. *Id*. at ¶2, 4. (App. 3). Officers parked two squad cars "in a pincer-like fashion" around the car, shined headlights and overhead spotlights on the vehicle, approached the vehicle and upon smelling marijuana asked the driver, Evans, out of the vehicle. *Id.* at \P 2, 6-9. (App. 3-4). This court found the seizure of Evans unsupported by reasonable suspicion under the totality of the circumstances, noting "none of these facts constitute the 'more' referenced by Gordon and Anderson." Id. at ¶45. (App. 10).

Here, an allegedly improperly parked car does not amount to that something more to amount to reasonable suspicion.

Finally, the circuit court credited a fourth factor, an "inferential" factor, drawing on the inferences an officer makes upon spotting an individual under the circumstances – here, sitting in an improperly parked car in an alleyway late at night, in a high-crime area making a furtive movement, corroborated by the pill

² Pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)(b), an unpublished opinion issued after July 1, 2009, may be cited for its persuasive value, though it is not binding precedent.

bottle on the floorboard. This overlooks Officer Rivera's testimony, admitting that his contact with Mr. McBride was not based on an improperly parked vehicle. Instead, the police contact was prompted by Mr. McBride's movement when Officer Rivera illuminated the vehicle and its occupants with the spotlight.

While an officer may rely upon training and experience to inform his observations, the court is not required to "accept all of his suspicions as reasonable" or that the officer's "perceptions are justified by the objective facts." *State v. Young*, 212 Wis. 2d 417, 429, 569 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1997) (quoting *United States v. Buenaventura-Ariza*, 615 F.2d 29, 36 (2nd Cir. 1980). It is a factor for the court to consider but may not be dispositive. *Id*.

Moreover, the pill bottle on the floor was not observed by Officer Rivera until after his seizure of Mr. McBride. Because the presence of the pill bottle was not known to Officer Rivera at the time of the seizure, it cannot provide a basis for reasonable suspicion to justify the seizure.

Here, the police acted unreasonably when they subjected Mr. McBride to an unlawful seizure. This court should reverse the circuit court and order the evidence obtained as a result of the illegal seizure be suppressed.

II. Officer Rivera's handcuffing and removal of Mr. McBride from the vehicle was not supported by reasonable suspicion and exceeded the scope of a *Terry* stop.

Even if the initial stop and seizure of Mr. McBride was constitutional, the pills and heroin discovered in his jacket pocket should still be suppressed because the police exceeded the scope of a *Terry* stop, rendering the search illegal.

The State argued that *Pennsylvania v. Mimms*, 434 U.S. 106 (1977), granted Officer Rivera the authority to remove Mr. McBride from the vehicle. *Mimms* created a per se rule, allowing law enforcement to remove a driver from a vehicle during a traffic stop. In *Maryland v. Wilson*, 519 U.S. 408 (1997), the court extended this rule to passengers in traffic stops.

In *Mimms*, the U.S. Supreme Court found that the reasonableness of removing an individual from a vehicle depends upon the balance of the incremental intrusion upon the person and legitimate concerns for officer safety. It specifically noted "the hazard of accidental injury" to officers conducting traffic stops on the shoulder of a roadway, and also noted that a significant number of police officer homicides occurred during traffic stops. *Mimms*, 434 U.S. at 109-111.

In both *Mimms* and *Wilson*, the Court's concern was the hazards and danger to police investigating a traffic violation on a roadway. Here, the police encounter with Mr. McBride did not occur during a

Case 2021AP000311

Filed 07-12-2021

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