Filed 06-20-2023

Page 1 of 45

FILED 06-20-2023 CLERK OF WISCONSIN SUPREME COURT

# STATE OF WISCONSIN

# IN SUPREME COURT

Case No. 2021AP311-CR

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent-Petitioner,

v.

DONTE QUINTELL MCBRIDE,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON REVIEW FROM A DECISION OF THE WISCONSIN COURT OF APPEALS REVERSING AND REMANDING THE CIRCUIT COURT'S DECISION AND ORDER DENYING A MOTION TO SUPPRESS EVIDENCE ENTERED IN THE MILWAUKEE COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JONATHAN D. WATTS, PRESIDING

## **BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT-PETITIONER**

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

KIERAN M. O'DAY Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1113772

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

## ARGUMENT

I. Officers had reasonable suspicion to temporarily detain McBride.

# A. Temporary detentions, including traffic stops, are constitutional if they are supported by reasonable suspicion.

"The Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution and Article I, Section 11 of the Wisconsin Constitution protect people from unreasonable searches and seizures." *State v. Charles E. Young*, 2006 WI 98, ¶ 18, 294 Wis. 2d 1, 717 N.W.2d 729 (footnotes omitted). Police officers may temporarily seize an individual for investigatory purposes without violating the Fourth Amendment's prohibition against unreasonable searches and seizures. *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 30 (1968). A traffic stop is a seizure within the meaning of the Fourth Amendment and "is more analogous to a so-called *Terry* stop... than to a formal arrest." *State v. Floyd*, 2017 WI 78, ¶¶ 20–21, 377 Wis. 2d 394, 898 N.W.2d 560 (alteration in original) (citations omitted).

A *Terry* stop is constitutional "if the police have reasonable suspicion that a crime has been committed, is being committed, or is about to be committed." *Young*, 294 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 20. "Reasonable suspicion requires that a police officer possess specific and articulable facts that warrant a reasonable belief that criminal activity is afoot." *Id.* ¶ 21. A temporary detention in the form of a traffic stop is valid if "under the totality of the circumstances, [a police officer] has grounds to reasonably suspect that a crime or traffic violation has been or will be committed." *State v. Popke*, 2009 WI 37, ¶ 23, 317 Wis. 2d 118, 765 N.W.2d 569.

Whether an officer possessed reasonable suspicion is an objective inquiry: "What would a reasonable police officer reasonably suspect in light of his or her training and

Page 20 of 45

experience?" State v. Genous, 2021 WI 50, ¶ 8, 397 Wis. 2d 293, 961 N.W.2d 41 (citation omitted). To that end, courts do not view facts in isolation; rather, "[t]he building blocks of facts accumulate. And as they accumulate, reasonable inferences about the cumulative effect can be drawn." State v. Waldner, 206 Wis. 2d 51, 58, 556 N.W.2d 681 (1996); see also Genous, 397 Wis. 2d 293, ¶ 12. Said differently, Wisconsin courts "consider everything observed by and known to the officer, and then determine whether a reasonable officer in that situation would reasonably suspect that criminal activity was afoot." Genous, 397 Wis. 2d 293, ¶ 10.

In considering everything known to an officer at the time of a temporary detention, courts recognize that "conduct which has innocent explanations may . . . give rise to a reasonable suspicion of criminal activity." *State v. Charles D. Young*, 212 Wis. 2d 417, 430, 569 N.W.2d 84 (Ct. App. 1997). In turn, "[i]f a reasonable inference of unlawful conduct can be objectively discerned, the officers may temporarily detain the individual to investigate, notwithstanding the existence of innocent inference[s] which could be drawn." *Id.* And "a series of acts, each of which are innocent in themselves may, taken together, give rise to a reasonable suspicion of criminal conduct." *Id.* Simply put, "officers are not required to rule out the possibility of innocent behavior before initiating a brief stop." *Genous*, 397 Wis. 2d 293, ¶ 8 (citation omitted).

# B. The illegally parked SUV provided reasonable suspicion.

To begin, the illegally parked SUV itself provided reasonable suspicion to detain McBride. It is well settled that "reasonable suspicion that a traffic law has been or is being violated is sufficient to justify all traffic stops." *State v. Houghton*, 2015 WI 79, ¶ 30, 364 Wis. 2d 234, 868 N.W.2d 143. This rule also applies with equal force to non-traffic civil forfeiture offenses. *See State v. Iverson*, 2015 WI 101, ¶ 53, 365 Wis. 2d 302, 871 N.W.2d 661.

The court of appeals failed to review the circuit court's finding that the SUV was obstructing traffic with the proper deference under the clearly erroneous standard. It also misunderstood the impact of the ordinance violation at issue.

- 1. In concluding the SUV was not obstructing traffic, the court of appeals ignored the clearly erroneous standard and made independent findings.
  - a. Courts of appeal are not fact finders, and they must affirm findings unless they are clearly erroneous.

The Wisconsin Constitution confers only appellate jurisdiction upon the court of appeals except in limited situations not relevant here. Wis. Const. art. VII, § 5(3). That conferral of jurisdiction "precludes [the court of appeals] from making any factual determinations where the evidence is in dispute." *Wurtz v. Fleischman*, 97 Wis. 2d 100, 107 n.3, 293 N.W.2d 155 (1980). In other words, as the court of appeals itself has recognized, "[t]he court of appeals is not a factfinding court." *Harwick v. Black*, 217 Wis. 2d 691, 703, 580 N.W.2d 354 (Ct. App. 1998).

Because the court of appeals is not a fact-finding court, "[i]t is axiomatic that trial court findings may not be disturbed on appeal unless they are" clearly erroneous. *Wurtz*, 97 Wis. 2d at 107; see also Phelps v. Physicians Ins. Co. of Wis., Inc., 2009 WI 74, ¶ 34, 319 Wis. 2d 1, 768 N.W.2d 615. The clearly erroneous standard applies in cases "[w]here the underlying facts are in dispute" because "the trial court resolves that dispute by exercising its fact-finding function."

Filed 06-20-2023

Page 22 of 45

State v. Walli, 2011 WI App 86, ¶ 14, 334 Wis. 2d 402, 799 N.W.2d 898. This principle remains true even in cases where, like here, "evidence in the record consists of disputed testimony and a video recording." *Id.* ¶ 17.

A circuit court's findings "must . . . strike [the court] as wrong with the force of a five-week-old, unrefrigerated dead fish" to be clearly erroneous. United States v. Di Mucci, 879 F.2d 1488, 1494 (7th Cir. 1989) (first alteration in original) (quoting Parts & Elec. Motors, Inc. v. Sterling Elec., Inc., 866 F.2d 228, 233 (7th Cir. 1988)). As this Court has explained, "[a] finding of fact is clearly erroneous when 'it is against the great weight and clear preponderance of the evidence." Phelps, 319 Wis. 2d 1, ¶ 39 (citation omitted); see also Wurtz, 97 Wis. 2d at 107. In turn, much like an NFL video official upholding an on-field decision absent "clear and obvious visual evidence" that the call on the field was wrong,<sup>2</sup> appellate courts must "affirm [a] circuit court's findings so long as there is evidence in the record that would permit a reasonable person to make the same findings." *Hennessy v.* Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., 2020 WI App 64, ¶ 16, 394 Wis. 2d 357, 950 N.W.2d 877. Importantly, "a factual finding is not clearly erroneous merely because a different fact-finder could draw different inferences from the record." State v. Wenk, 2001 WI App 268, ¶ 8, 248 Wis. 2d 714, 637 N.W.2d 417 (emphasis added).

While appellate courts of course must review the record to determine whether a circuit court's factual findings are clearly erroneous, courts "search the record not for evidence opposing the circuit court's decision, but for evidence supporting it." *Royster-Clark, Inc. v. Olsen's Mill, Inc.*, 2006

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Rule 15 Instant Replay, Section 2 - Replay Reviews, 2022 NFL Rulebook, https://operations.nfl.com/the-rules/2022-nfl-rulebook/#section-2-replay-reviews (last visited June 18, 2023).

WI 46, ¶ 12, 290 Wis. 2d 264, 714 N.W.2d 530. And, even if an appellate court's "independent view of the evidence may [lead it] to a different result, [the court is] bound to accept the trial court's inferences unless they are incredible as a matter of law." *Wenk*, 248 Wis. 2d 714, ¶ 8.

b. The court of appeals improperly employed the clearly erroneous standard and disregarded the circuit court's factual findings despite the record support for those findings.

Much like the court of appeals' error in *State v. Ruffin*, 2022 WI 34, ¶¶ 39–41, 401 Wis. 2d 619, 974 N.W.2d 432, the court of appeals here correctly identified its standard of review, but it strayed off course when it came time to apply that standard.

In *Ruffin*, this Court admonished the court of appeals for "not conduct[ing] the 'record conclusively demonstrates' inquiry" while reviewing whether a postconviction motion warranted an evidentiary hearing. This Court concluded that the court of appeals "perform[ed] only half of the required analysis" and reversed its decision after conducting the full analysis. *Ruffin*, 401 Wis. 2d 619, ¶¶ 39, 49. The result should be the same here. While the court of appeals correctly identified the standard it *should have* applied, *McBride*, 2022 WL 17814269, ¶ 13, its actual application of the standard was contrary to this Court's requirements.

The circuit court made several factual findings regarding the positioning of the SUV within the alley when it denied McBride's motion to suppress. The court stated that "[t]here's an inference that the vehicle is partially blocking the alley, and there was later testimony that the vehicle could have been towed or ticketed. . . . So the vehicle is in an unusual place with the lights out." (R. 40:46–47.) The circuit

Page 24 of 45

court found "suspicious" "the discovery of [two] occupants in an unilluminated vehicle parked in the *middle* of the alley." (R. 40:47 (emphasis added).) Further, the court found Rivera credible when he testified that there was "a vehicle parked in the middle of the alley, obstructing traffic in the alley, and having no lights on." (R. 46:14.) The court again found those facts to be "suspicious." (R. 46:14.) In summarizing the facts at the close of the suppression hearing, the circuit court again noted that "[t]he . . . vehicle's in an unusual situation in the alley partially obstructing traffic." (R. 46:21.)

Supporting the circuit court's findings was Rivera's testimony that the SUV "wasn't parked off to the side, it was parked right in the alley" and that "it would interfere" with two-way traffic. (R. 40:6–7.) The State also played Rivera's body camera footage during the suppression hearing. During that replay, the State paused the footage at 25 seconds. (R. 40:16.) At that point one can see the SUV parked in the alley; additionally, one can see a car parked on a parking slab perpendicular to the SUV, which would have been physically unable to leave with the SUV in its current position. (R. 43 at 00:00:25.) The State asked Rivera, "So this is how you were describing that the car was impeding the alley?" (R. 40:16.) Rivera answered, "Correct." (R. 40:16.) On cross-examination, Rivera testified that the SUV "would get ticketed or towed if it's obstructing traffic." (R. 40:20.)

Rivera's suppression testimony was also consistent with his testimony at McBride's preliminary hearing, where he explained that "[i]n the city of Milwaukee, you're not allowed to park your vehicle overnight in the alley. If you do park in the alley, you have to allow 15 feet of clearance for other vehicles to get through." (R. 32:4.) He continued, explaining that "[f]rom my experience living in Milwaukee, no alley is that wide that you can technically park in the alley." (R. 32:4.)

Page 25 of 45

Despite the record support for the circuit court's factual findings, the court of appeals declared them clearly erroneous. *McBride*, 2022 WL 17814269, ¶ 22. In doing so, the court of appeals relied on its independent view of Rivera's body camera footage and an isolated portion of Rivera's cross-examination, where Rivera admitted that he could maneuver around the SUV and did not take any measurements of the alley. *Id.* Based on that independent view of the record, the court of appeals derived a different inference than that of the circuit court: that "based on [its] review, ... [t]he video reflects that the SUV was not in fact parked in the middle of the alley, but rather off to the side with the driver behind the wheel and available to move the SUV." *Id.* 

In so doing, the court of appeals inserted itself as the factfinder and simply replaced the circuit court's record supported findings with its own. To make matters worse, the court failed to explain *why* the circuit court's factual findings were clearly erroneous, any competing inferences aside.<sup>3</sup> *Compare McBride*, 2022 WL 17814269, ¶ 22 (providing no explanation of how the circuit court's findings were

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Further, while the majority decision stopped short of declaring the circuit court's credibility findings regarding McBride's furtive movements clearly erroneous, it recharacterized those movements as something less than the circuit court found. State v. McBride, No. 2021AP311-CR, 2022 WL 17814269, 20 (Wis. Ct. App. Dec. 20, 2022) (unpublished). This recharacterization rendered the circuit court's finding that Rivera credibly testified that McBride made furtive movements in response to his spotlight a nullity and warps the reader's image of the interaction as Rivera encountered it. Judge Dugan recognized the majority's error in his dissent, noting that the circuit court made "extensive findings about why it found Officer Rivera credible about the movements" and reminding the majority that the court of appeals "must accept the circuit court's findings of historical fact unless they are clearly erroneous." Id. ¶ 56 n.10 (Dugan, J., dissenting).

Page 26 of 45

unsupported by the record), *with State v. Santiago*, 198 Wis. 2d 82, 94–96, 542 N.W.2d 466 (Ct. App. 1995) (explaining over the span of three pages why the record did not support a factual finding); *see also State v. Santiago*, 206 Wis. 2d 3, 26–27, 556 N.W.2d 687 (1996) (this Court agreeing with the court of appeals that the circuit court's factual findings were clearly erroneous because "[n]o evidence support[ed] [the] finding of fact").

To correct the court of appeals' misapplication of the clearly erroneous standard, this Court should reaffirm that mere disagreement or competing inferences are insufficient to reverse a circuit court's factual findings when those findings are supported by the record. *Wenk*, 248 Wis. 2d 714,  $\P$  8.

# 2. Rivera had reasonable suspicion that a traffic ordinance had been or was being violated.

Pursuant to Milwaukee's traffic code, it is "unlawful for any vehicle to be parked or left standing on a highway in such a manner as to obstruct traffic." Milwaukee, Wis. Traffic Code, 101-24.2 (5/31/2023). Here, Rivera testified that the SUV was positioned in such a way that it could have been ticketed or towed for obstructing traffic. The circuit court found that testimony credible, and Rivera's body camera footage confirmed that the SUV was blocking a car in when Rivera encountered it. Accordingly, as Judge Dugan concluded in his dissent, a reasonable officer in Rivera's position could conduct a traffic stop to investigate that suspected traffic code violation. *McBride*, 2022 WL 17814269,  $\P$  35–38 (Dugan, J., dissenting); *Houghton*, 364 Wis. 2d 234,  $\P$  30.

The court of appeals "question[ed]" whether the obstruction ordinance cited above "applies here" because "[t]he plain language of the ordinance addresses vehicles on a *highway*, not an alley." *McBride*, 2022 WL 17814269, ¶ 21 n.6. The court of appeals' hesitance is unwarranted for two reasons.

First, its interpretation of the ordinance is wrong. The Milwaukee traffic code incorporates all of the State of Wisconsin's statutorily defined terms for the rules of the road. Milwaukee, Wis. Traffic Code, 101-1.2. (5/9/2023) ("The city of Milwaukee adopts s. . . . 340 . . . Wis. Stats., and all subsequent amendments thereto defining and describing regulations with respect to vehicles and pedestrians and traffic . . . ."). The legislature has defined an alley as "every *highway* within the corporate limits of a city . . . primarily intended to provide access to the rear of [the] property fronting upon another highway and not for the use of through traffic." Wis. Stat. § 340.01(2); see also Wis. Stat. § 340.01(22) (defining a highway as "all public ways and thoroughfares"). Because an alley is statutorily defined as a highway, the ordinance applies. State ex rel. Kalal v. Circuit Court for Dane Cnty., 2004 WI 58, ¶ 45, 271 Wis. 2d 633, 681 N.W.2d 110 ("[T]echnical or specially-defined words or phrases are given their technical or special definitional meaning.").

The court of appeals has applied the ordinance to a vehicle obstructing an alley on at least one other occasion. *Neal*, 2018 WL 1633577, ¶ 11.<sup>4</sup> Like the SUV here, the vehicle in *Neal* was "parked in the middle of an alley, blocking traffic." *Id.* ¶ 2. There, the court of appeals held that the stop was reasonable because "the vehicle [was] parked towards the middle of the alley, blocking traffic in at least one direction," which was in violation of the City of Milwaukee Traffic Code.

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